# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/2/2024 3:18 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 58383-6-II

Case #: 1033311

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

M.G.

Petitioner,

v.

BAINBRIDGE ISLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT et. al.

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marcus Gerlach WSBA # 33963 Attorney for Petitioner M.G 579 Stetson Place, S.W Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 Telephone: (206) 471.8382 msg2x4@yahoo.com

###

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

M.G., a male, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and prior student of Bainbridge Island School District ("BISD") seeks this Court's review of the decision set forth in Part B.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division II, filed an unpublished decision affirming the Superior Court's decision terminating review on July 16, 2024. (Appendix A) M.G. requests review by the Washington State Supreme Court in this Petition.

1) Division II completely failed to discussed "RCW 28A.645.020-Transcripts filed, certified." Neither BISD, nor the School Board Members ("SBM"), provided transcripts to the Court. The RCW required SBM "shall file a complete transcript of the evidence and the papers and exhibits relating to the decision for which a complaint has been filed." "Such filing shall be certified to be correct." On October 13, 2021, BISD's SBM conducted a Zoom sexual harassment appeal hearing ("Zoom hearing"). Witness testimony was presented to the SBM. The SBM asked questions and made statements in the Zoom hearing. SBM failed to record or transcribe the Zoom hearing based on "legal counsel advice."

On December 7, 2021, BISD's Superintendent Peter Bang-Knudsen ("PBK") filed a "Certification of Record." No record or transcripts were filed or certified by BISD detailing testimony or "evidence" from BISD's witnesses or articulating reasons for SBM's decision at the Zoom appeal hearing.

2) Division II improperly challenged M.G.'s Assignment of Errors attributable to BISD's SBM under RAP 10.3.(a)(4) in M.G.'s Opening Brief [Page 8]. M.G.'s Opening Brief stated, "The COL failed to cite a case or a legal standard to support the COL. BISD, <u>SBM</u> and Adams erred in concluding the following:" M.G. listed SBM's errors, specifically citing SBM's *alleged* conduct pursuant to RAP 10.3 (a)(4). (Appendix B) Division II, however, claimed, "M.G. confusingly focuses all of his assignments of error and arguments on the decision *of the superior court.*" (Opinion Pg 5)

Despite the assignment of errors to SBM, Division II erred by stating, "Because MG failed to assign error to or make any argument about the board's decision, we are unable to review the merits of MG's appeal." Division II failed to review M.G.'s Assignment of Errors attributable to SBM.

3) Finally, Division II issued a conflicting decision on a case involving substantive issues on which there is a published case. Mercer Island School District v OSPI 186 Wn.App. 939, 347 P.3d 924 (2015). This case presents a direct conflict involving substantive issues between Division I and Division II requiring Supreme Court review. [RAP 13.4(b)(2)] Mercer Island School *District v OSPI* 186 Wn.App. 939, 347 P.3d 924 (2015) involved: a) harassment, bullying and intimidation of a Section 504 student; b) investigator/attorney Jeffrey Ganson ("Ganson"); c)investigation by a biased, compromised and partial investigator, who omitted relevant facts and reached unjustified conclusions; and d) Washington Schools Risk Management Pool's ("WSRMP") improper involvement in the case. M.G. v BISD involved nearly identical substantive issues [a) - d)] resulting in a decision which directly conflicted with Division I's *Mercer Island* decision.

#### C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1) Did RCW 28A.645.020 require BISD's SBM to record and provide certified transcripts, or "evidence" of the 2021 Zoom appeal hearing to the court? Did the failure of certified transcripts, or "evidence" preclude the court's *de novo* review of the SBM's October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing and resulting decision?

- 2) Did Division II commit reversable err in not reviewing M.G.'s Opening Brief for Assigned Errors to SBM under RAP 10.3(a)(4) particularly where SBM failed to provide "RCW 28A.645.020 Transcript filed, certified?"
- 3) Did Division II issue a decision, with substantively identical issues, in direct conflict with Division I's *Mercer Island School District v OSPI* 186 Wn.App. 939, 347 P.3d 924 (2015)? [RCW 2.06.030 and RAP 13.4]

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division II's unpublished opinion set forth a version of rules and procedures in the case, but omitted relevant facts and reached unjustified conclusions that bear emphasis for this Court's review.

First, BISD's Superintendent "PBK" certified the record without filing any certified transcripts from the October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing. RCW 28A.645.020 mandated "Transcripts filed, certified." Three months prior to the October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing, M.G. requested BISD preserve all writings, records and recordings in a July 7, 2021 litigation hold (CP 57-60). SBM failed to preserve the October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing under the litigation hold and under RCW 28A.645 based on "legal counsel advice." (See Appendix C)

On December 16, 2021, M.G. filed a notice of Incomplete Record after BISD's SBM failed to provide any transcripts. (CP 2) On February 18, 2022, M.G. filed a Motion to Compel a complete record with transcripts pursuant to RCW 28A.645.020. (CP 158) On May 12, 2023, M.G. filed a Motion to Compel a complete record with transcripts pursuant to RCW 28A.645.020. (CP 486) Both motions to compel a complete record (evidence from transcripts) were denied. *BISD/SBM spoliated valuable evidence*.

Second, without any hearing transcripts to review, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("FOF" & "COL") were issued on June 7, 2023. The FOF COL made reference to the board decision without any supporting evidence, or transcripts. Division II failed to address RCW 28A.645.020 in the unpublished decision. To assist the court, M.G. took the deposition of BISD's Superintendent on July 3, 2024. In the deposition, PBK confirmed SBM's Zoom appeal hearing was not recorded, on "legal advice." The deposition is additional evidence under RAP 9.11. Excerpts of deposition testimony are provided below:

PBK was asked, "Did Bainbridge Island School District preserve all the audio records regarding the appeal?" PBK responded, "I don't believe there were audio records regarding that appeal."

PBK was asked, "Did Bainbridge Island ever preserve any video records or videoconferencing regarding that appeal?"
PBK stated, "I don't believe there were any video recordings of that appeal."

PBK was asked, "So the hearing was conducted by Zoom, correct? PBK stated, "I was there along with school board members in the school district board meeting room." "As I recall you were on Zoom."

PBK was asked, "And does the school district have a copy of that October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing?" PBK stated, "It was not recorded."

PBK was asked, "Okay. Did you direct the Bainbridge Island School District staff not to record that Zoom hearing?" PBK stated, "It was based on legal advice."

PBK was asked, "Okay. So someone other than you determined that it was not going to be recorded?" PBK stated, "correct."

PBK was asked, "But you were the one that received the litigation hold, not legal counsel; correct?" PBK stated, "Correct."

PBK was asked, "And the school board received notice of the litigation hold; correct?" PBK stated, "Correct."

PBK was asked, "But the October 13, 2021, Zoom hearing was not preserved, correct?" PBK stated, "Correct."

PBK was asked, "Did you receive notice that you weren't supposed to record it in writing, or just over the telephone, or in person?" PBK stated, "I don't recall."

PBK was asked, "Do you know if there's an electronic record of that direction not to record the October 13, 2021, Zoom hearing?" PBK stated, "I do not."

[Deposition Transcripts attached as Appendix C]

BISD's SBM did not record the October 13, 2021 appeal hearing or create a certified transcript based on legal advice before filing a Notice of a Complete Record. BISD's SBM knowingly failed to record the October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing, and violated the July 7, 2021 litigation hold (CP 57-60) by not recording the Zoom hearing in order to prevent a record of conflicting testimony, citation to SBM's comments and specific rationale for its decision. Based on legal advice SBM/PBK did not record the Zoom appeal hearing. SBM/PBK were aware of RCW 28A.645.020 and the litigation hold from July 7, 2021 to April 24, 2023. (Appendix D)

Without certified transcripts of the October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing, Division II speculated on witness testimony [evidence] and SBM's comments. M.G. appealed the speculative and unjustified conclusions of SBM in the assignment of errors. The speculative and unjustified conclusions pertained to BISD's Policies and Procedures ("P&P"). A court cannot affirm legal holdings based on speculation or conjecture. Speculative decisions must be reversed.

Third, M.G.'s Opening Brief assigned error (to COL # 19), which stated, "M.G.'s October 13, 2021 sexual harassment appeal hearing did not need to be recorded, or transcribed, under RCW

28A.645.020 or Code of Federal Regulations (CFR)." M.G.'s issue was, "Did state law and federal law require a recorded sexual harassment appeal hearing?" RCW 28A.645.020 mandated "transcripts filed, certified" of the testimony from a Zoom hearing. Without compliance with RCW 28A.645.020, the trial court and Court of Appeals were required to reverse the SBM's decision for failure to provide transcripts, filed and certified under the RCW. Instead of addressing this violation, Division II stated, "We decline to review the merits of M.G.'s claims because he focuses his assignments of error and arguments on the decision of the superior court rather than of the board." "Accordingly, we affirm."

Fourth, M.G.'s Opening Brief assigned error (to COL # 15), which stated, "BISD's SBM conducted the October 13, 2021 hearing in compliance with P&P and Washington Law." M.G.'s issue was, "Does the law allow a board to engage in multiple conflicts of interest, concealment of documents and records, falsification of evidence and prejudice/bias against a male, Section 504 student and fail to record a Zoom hearing/meeting?"

Fifth, M.G.'s Opening Brief assigned error (to COL #20), which stated, "SBM [allegedly] properly addressed M.G.'s prehearing motions." M.G.'s issues were: 1) Can BISD SBM's attorney [old law partner of BISD's attorney] fail to issue a prehearing Order on pending Motions to disqualify a decision-maker who has a conflict of interest?" 2) "Should SBM's decision-making process, including their attorney, appear to be fair, impartial and unbiased?" 3) "Must all SBM be fair, impartial and unbiased in sexual harassment appeal hearing proceedings?" M.G. specifically challenged SBM's decision even without the benefit of a RCW-required transcript of the October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing.

Sixth, M.G.'s Opening Brief assigned error (to COL #17), which stated, "The Court concluded that a review of the incomplete record supported SBM's decision that no HIB occurred." M.G.'s issues were, "Did the court properly conclude that a) evidence was not necessary to make a complete record, b) the sexual harassment hearing did not need to be recorded pursuant to 34 CFR §106, c) the hearing transcript was not required under 28A.645.020, d) Murphy, PBK and Ganson did not have conflicts of interest and e) Ganson's biased, prejudicial and partial investigation notes should be excluded because they were embarrassing to BISD and

WSRMP- resulting in SBM's decision to clear BISD/WSRMP of any violations of P&P?" M.G. argued that even without a certified transcript of the appeal hearing the SBM violated: i) 34 CFR §106, 28A.645.020; ii) engaged in multiple conflicts of interest; iii) utilized a biased investigator who failed to comply with BISD's P&P; and iv) improperly decided that no HIB violations occurred.

Seventh, M.G.'s Opening Brief assigned error (to COL # 18), which stated, "The board did not conduct a secret after-hearing meeting after the board announced that the hearing was concluded." M.G.'s issue was, "Can SBM's attorney [old law partner of BISD's attorney] conduct an after-meeting hearing with BISD staff, BISD's attorneys, BISD's witnesses and SBM after terminating the Zoom with M.G. and then deny the existence of the meeting?" Despite the failure to record the October 13, 2021 Zoom appeal hearing and after-hearing meeting, M.G. presented evidence that SBM members engaged in an after-hearing meeting with BISD's staff and witnesses. SBM's after-hearing meeting violated M.G.'s due process rights. "SBM's decision relied upon Ganson's testimony and Notes." "SBM's decision was drafted by BISD's old law partner to protect BISD/WSRMP." (M.G.'s Opening Brief pg 47) M.G. specifically assigned errors to SBM's decision.

In each Assigned Error, M.G. referred to the SBM's actions, inactions or failure to comply with the RCWs, CFRs and P&P.

Division II erred by stating, "M.G. failed to assign error to the board's decision and fails to include any argument related specifically to the board's decision." The plain text of M.G.'s Opening Brief or Reply Brief demonstrated errors by BISD's SBM.

For example, M.G. and the alleged aggressors were required to be interviewed as required by BISD's Procedure 3706.(Open Brf Pg 62) BISD's Ganson, however, "failed to obtain the interviews of the alleged aggressors and complainant." (Open Brf Pg 54)

In another example, "M.G.'s Section 504 team was required to meet pursuant to BISD's P&P (Policy 3706)" (Open Brf Pg 61) "BISD failed to convene M.G.'s Section 504 team following the sexual harassment pursuant to the P&P." (Open Brf Pg 20).

Division II cited CP 1580, [which was not cited by Appellants, nor Appellee in briefs] as the basis for requiring "a mutually agreeable neutral, third party to investigate the alleged retaliation against [M.G.]." (Op Pg 3) The reason for requiring a neutral third party was predicated on the holding in *Mercer Island v OSPI*, where the court stated, "If the district had truthfully

informed them of its relationship with [its law firm], the [Parents] may have requested that either the compliance coordinator or an unaffiliated law firm conduct the investigation." [Id at 957] M.G. was entitled to a neutral, unbiased and impartial investigator. BISD did not provide a neutral, unbiased and impartial investigator. WSRMP assigned a WSRMP defense attorney as their investigator.

According to the deposition of BISD's PBK, WSRMP assigned a WSRMP defense attorney [Ganson], not a neutral, unbiased and impartial investigator. On July 3, 2024, PBK was asked in deposition:

Did you select Jeff Ganson to investigate the HIB complaint? PBK answered, "No."

PBK was asked, "Do you know who did?" PBK answered, "My understanding is he's assigned to us."

PBK was asked, "Do you know who assigned him to you?" PBK stated, "I believe it was WSRMP."

(Deposition transcript attached under RAP 9.11 - Appendix E)

The WSRMP executive Board member with BISD was Erin Murphy ("Murphy"). Murphy was simultaneously <u>BISD's Title</u>

<u>IX officer</u> and <u>WSRMP Executive Board member.</u> (CP 29-30)

This conflict of interest was addressed during the Zoom hearing.

M.G. noted that BISD's Murphy failed to serve as a neutral, unbiased and impartial Title IX officer. M.G. also noted that SBMs engaged in conflicts of interest while serving as "neutral, unbiased and impartial" decision-makers. The Zoom hearing transcript was not provided and therefore a *de novo* review was impossible. Each of the statements of fact were included in M.G.'s Opening Brief (Pgs 8-14) under the assignment of errors. Division II excused Murphy from being a biased and partial Title IX officer when obvious conflicts of interest existed.

SBM was advised of *Mercer Island School District v OSPI* during the October 13, 2021 Zoom appeal hearing. Robin Wilt, the plaintiff in *Mercer Island v OSPI* provided a declaration identifying the obvious and uncontroverted similarities. (CP 359) The Court of Appeals Division II issued a decision in contradiction to the Court of Appeals holding in Division I. [*Mercer Is v OSPI*] RCW 2.06.030 requires the Supreme Court resolve conflicts regarding published case law in *Mercer Island v OSPI*, which directly conflicted with the decision in *M.G. v BISD*.

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

#### 1) <u>Division II Incorrectly Interpreted RCW 28A.645.020</u>

Division II's unpublished opinion omitted reference to the crucial unrecorded Zoom hearing, 34 C.F.R. §106.45 and litigation hold. SBM failed to comply with RCW 28A.645.020. The state law required "Transcripts, filed certified." The Court of Appeals failed to implement state law and then required nonexistent evidence from M.G.. The central goal of any statutory interpretation is to carry out legislative intent. State Dep't of Ecology v Campbell & Gwinn 146 Wn.2d 1, 11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). The court's analysis of a statute must begin by looking at the words of the statute. *Federal Home Loan Bank of* Seattle v Credit Suisse Sec LLC 194 Wn.2d 253, 258, 449 P.3d 1019 (2019) reaffirmed that the bedrock principle of statutory interpretation is the statute's plain language. Davis v Dep't of *Licensing* 137 Wn.2d 957, 963-64, 977 P.2d 554 (1999) The legislature means exactly what it says. Here, SBM intentionally prevented any transcripts. Division II was forced to speculate on witness testimony and SBM's rationale for their decision.

Absent a "complete transcript" of SBM's administrative record, the court speculated about the testimony or argument offered by BISD's witnesses during the Zoom hearing. BISD also prevented the SBM from reviewing Ganson's notes as part of Ganson's "detailed report." Division II cited Ganson's "detailed report" but failed to cite Ganson's biased report notes. The evidence obtained during the SBM Zoom hearing established Ganson's bias. Division II did not make any reference to MNSI's detailed report, or the declaration of M.G.'s expert, ex-FBI investigator Michael Necochea's cited BISD's violations. (CP 521)

Division II did not cite *Goodman v Bethel Schl Dist* 84 Wn.2d 120, 524 P.2d 918 (1974) which required Bethel School District file a verbatim transcript, as well as, the papers and exhibits relating to the board's decision. In *Goodman*, testimony by witnesses, before the board, was accepted by the trial court. Division II did not have testimony from Ganson and Murphy, because PBK refused to record the October 13, 2021 Zoom hearing. The trial court was required to review the "complete transcript" [RCW 28A.645.020]. Spoliation results in default judgment. *J.K. v BSD* 500 P3d 138 (2021).

Goodman cited Hattrick's "common sense" approach to requiring a "complete transcript" to reach an "unhampered" FOF COL. "Compliance with RCW requires more than a mere filing of the exhibits and papers relating to the board's decision." "The board must also file the complete transcript of the evidence." "Having imposed these duties upon school boards, as part of the appeal process, it would be illogical to conclude that the legislature intended the trial court to totally disregard such evidence in the de novo hearing..." Goodman citing Hattrick v No. Kitsap Schl Dist 81 Wn.2d 668, 504 P.2d 302 (1972). The court in *Clark v Central Kitsap* 38 Wn.App. 560, 686 P.2d 514 (1984) also cited *Hattrick*. The *Hattrick* court required de novo review with complete transcripts. "A complete transcript may be essential for such purposes as showing inconsistent statements." [Hattrick at 670]. "Since this statute requires a trial de novo review before the superior court, it is evidence that the trial court's determination be made independent of any conclusion of the school board, and is to be based solely upon the evidence and testimony which the trial court receives." [Id] State v Fulwiler 76 Wash.2d 313, 456 P.2d 322 (1969). Division II did not discuss RCW 28A.645.020.

#### 2) Division II Missed Assigned Errors of SBM's Decision

M.G. specifically assigned errors to the SBM in the Opening Brief. M.G.'s assigned errors did not violate RAP 10.3 (a)(4). Even if they did, RAP 1.2(a) makes clear that technical violation of the rules will not ordinarily bar appellate review, where justice is to be served by such review. *Daughtry v Jet Aviation Co* 91 Wn.2d 704, 592 P.2d 631 (1979). In *Daughtry* the Court held, "[W]here the nature of the challenge is perfectly clear, and the challenged finding is set forth in the appellate brief, we will consider the merits of the challenge."

In *State v Olson* 126 Wn.2d 315, 893 P.2d 629 (1995) the State of Washington failed to specifically articulate clear assignments of error to the trial court's order regarding dismissal. Despite a confusing assignment of errors, the Court of Appeals reversed and held, "[s]ince the challenge is clear, justice will be served by reviewing the suppression and dismissal orders." The Court stated, "We decide the case on its merits, promoting substance over form. [RAP 1.2(a)]" The Washington State Supreme Court cited RAP 1.2(a):

"These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits."

The Supreme Court in *Olson* held, "The clear language of this rule supports the conclusion of the Court of Appeals and compels us to find that a technical violation of the rules should normally be overlooked and the case should be decided on the merits." "This result is particularly warranted where the violation is minor and results in no prejudice to the other party and no more than a minimal inconvenience to the appellate court." Division II defied case law with technical violations.

Likewise, the court in *State v Reader's Digest Ass'n* 81 Wn.2d 259, 501 P.2d 290 (1970) stated, "The fact that the state mistakenly appealed from the order denying its motion rather than from judgment is purely a technicality." "The state's obvious and overriding intent was to appeal from the judgment." M.G. clearly appealed from the SBM's flawed decision and argued extensively that the court did not have a copy of the testimony/evidence and SBM statements under RCW 28A.645.020 leading to the trial court petition for review and resulting appeal. M.G. dedicated more than 20 pages to the defective SBM decision. Division II never addressed the merits of M.G.'s arguments, instead citing technical violations.

The Court reached similar conclusions regarding RAP

1.2 in State v Williams 96 Wn.2d 215, 634 P.2d 868 (1981) and

State v Estrella 115 Wn.2d 350, 798 P.2d 289 (1990). In every case where technical noncompliance with the rules concerning appellate briefing or notice of appeal in light of RAP 1.2, the

Court decided to reach the merits of the case or issue- except in

M.G. v BISD. Other cases supporting substance over form included: Queen City Farms Inc v Central Nat'l Ins 124 Wn.2d 536, 882 P.2d 703 (1994); National Fed'n of Retired Persons v

Insurance Comm'r 120 Wn.2d 101 116, 838 P.2d 680 (1992).

In *Olson*, the notice of appeal clearly states what was intended, the brief was sufficient for Olson to respond and Olson responded. The parties were not prejudiced and the review process was not significantly impeded by any technical inadequacy in the opening brief. The *Olson* court promoted substance over form. As with M.G.'s appeal and Opening Brief, there was no compelling reason why the case could not be decided on the merits. Division II set the matter without oral argument, where M.G. could have addressed any perceived deficiencies. Division II promoted form over substance.

#### 3) "Division II's Holding Conflicted with Division I

Stare decisis [to stand by decisions and not to disturb settled matters] is the principle that the courts should follow the previous decisions when dealing with substantially identical issues. State ex rel Washington State Finance Comm v Martin 62 Wn.2d 645, 384 P.2d 833 (1963); Stranger Creek v Alby 77 Wn.2d 649, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). The instant case dealt with substantially identical issues to Mercer Island v OSPI, but resulted in differing holdings from different Divisions.

The Division I holding in *Mercer Island v OSPI* established liability for school districts where the administration failed to take reasonable actions in light of known circumstances. The Division II holding in *M.G. v BISD* denied liability for school districts where the administration failed to take reasonable actions in light of known circumstances. The Supreme Court has a duty to resolve conflicts within the Court of Appeals. If one division were required to defer to the decisions of another division, there would be no need for such a rule. [RAP 13.4(b)(2)] *Matter of Arnold* 190 Wash.2d 136, 410 P.3d 1133 (2018).

Where a conflict arises in jurisprudence of the appellate district courts, any trial court may choose the decision it finds most convenient or persuasive, resulting in further ambiguity.

Sears v Morrison 76 Cal.App.4th 577, 90 Cal.Rptr.2d 528 (3rd Dist 1999) M.G. respectfully requests the Washington State Supreme Court accept review and issue a decision on the

issues. Review is merited pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).

F. CONCLUSION

This Court's review of Division II's unpublished opinion is imperative for Section 504 students in public school districts in Washington State. The Court should review the record (or in this case, the *purposeful* lack thereof by the SBM and its counsel) and make a decision based on the merits, not reject the case on a mere technicality.

This document contains 3095 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted by RAP 18.17.