FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/15/2024 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/15/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1033311 Court of Appeals No. 58383-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

M.G.

Petitioner,

v.

BAINBRIDGE ISLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT, a municipal corporation; and WASHINGTON OFFICE OF SUPERINTENDENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION, a public agency

Respondents.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark F. O'Donnell, WSBA #13606 Amber R. Hazelquist, WSBA #41283 Preg O'Donnell & Gillett PLLC 401 Union St., Suite 1900 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 287-1775 Attorneys for Bainbridge Island School District

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

VI. ARGUMENT

M.G.'s petition fails to address the standards governing acceptance of review by this Court as set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Instead, in his petition he asks this Court to assign error:

(1) to the superior court reviewing the Board's decision as he petitioned them to do arguing the lack of transcripts of the Board's hearing precluded the superior court's review of the

Board decision; and (2), to the appellate court's alleged failure to adequately review his opening brief.

Gerlach also argues that the appellate court's decision was in direct conflict with Mercer Island School District v. OSPI, 186 Wn. App. 939, 347 P.3d 924 (2015). This is the only reason for review offered that addresses any of the potential grounds for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). However as set forth more fully below, the Mercer Island School District matter is an appeal of a superior court decision overturning an Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction finding that the Mercer Island School District exercised deliberate indifference to incidents of racial harassment in an administrative enforcement proceeding. It is not analogous to the present matter and thus not in conflict with the appellate court decision at issue herein.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Interpreted RCW 28A.645.020.

M.G.'s first assignment of error is confusing and difficult to follow. He asserts error in the superior court having reviewed the Board's decision, arguing the lack of transcripts of the Board's hearing precluded the superior court's review of the Board decision. In his argument section the assignment of error morphs into an allegation the Board failed to comply with the statute providing the superior court limited jurisdiction to review a school board decision, RCW 28A.645.010, by failing to record their review of the District's HIB decision.

However, this alleged error offers no argument or analysis as to why review should be accepted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Nevertheless, in abundance of caution, Respondent addresses the inaccuracy in M.G.'s substantive argument. Contrary to M.G.'s assertions, RCW 28A.645.010 et. seq., by its plain language, is a statutory scheme governing the assignment of limited jurisdiction to review school board decisions to the superior court. See RCW 28A.645.010 et. seq.

The statute governs procedure relating to said petitions for review, not school board hearing procedures. *Id.* To that end, RCW 28A.645.020 does not require that a School Board must record this type of hearing. Instead, it states that when an appeal of decision has been filed the school board, "shall file the complete transcript of the evidence and the papers and exhibits..." *Id.* which was done here. The District certified the evidence considered by the School Board in reaching its decision long ago. A transcription of the School Board's hearing did not exist because it the hearing was not recorded and thus not available to be transcribed.

Notably, in *Goodman v. Bethel Schl. Dist.*, 84 Wn.2d 120, 524 P.2d 918 (1974), cited by petitioner, at issue was appellant's request to exclude a statement of facts filed by the Board on review the Court held it would be illogical to require the District to produce something and then require the trial court to totally disregard it. *Id.* at 127-128. It does not stand for a principle that School Board's must record all their activities.

In Hattrick v. North Kitsap School Dist. No. 400, 81 Wn.2d 668, 504 P.2d 302 (1972) again, the issue was inclusion in the record of something that existed. In Hattrick, the Court held a reporter's notes should have been transcribed. Id. This contrasts with the present case where petitioner is arguing something should exist that does not, a verbatim transcript of the School Board hearing.

Consequently, even if this Court reached the merits of this assigned error, M.G.'s Petition should be denied.

B. There is No Evidence the Appellate Court Failed to Adequately Review M.G.'s Opening Brief.

M.G.'s next argument also fails to address any of the requirements for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). After offering faulty argument asserting the school board should have recorded its hearing, M.G. next alleges the appellate court did not adequately review his brief. This requested finding of error should be denied.

The appellate court decision makes clear that it did observe M.G.'s references to the school board in his briefing but that its role is not to address witness credibility or to substitute its own judgment as to the findings of fact. APP ••8. What M.G. asked the appellate court to do was beyond its jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals decision is clear in stating its only potential role would have been reviewing the Board's decision *de novo* based on an arbitrary and capricious standard.

C. Contrary to Gerlach's Argument, the Court of Appeals Decision does not Conflict with the *Mercer Island School District v. OSPI*, 186 Wn. App. 939, 347 P.3d 924 (2015).

M.G.'s third and final stated issue is the only issue that arguably addresses a potential ground for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). M.G. alleges the decision at issue is in direct conflict with *Mercer Island School District v. OSPI*, 186 Wn. App. 939, 347 P.3d 924 (2015). Specifically, he asserts that the *Mercer Island* decision established school district liability wherein an administration fails to take reasonable actions

considering known circumstances and that the Court of Appeals came to the opposite conclusion in the case at hand. This argument fails because even a cursory review of the opinion at issue and the *Mercer Island* decision reveals that neither decision stands for the principle Gerlach argues.

The appellate court decision of which M.G. seeks review upholds earlier case law finding that the standard of review in addressing a petition for review of a school board administrative decision is a *de novo* review of the school board decision. APP ••4. The COA determined that Gerlach failed to properly seek *de novo* review of the school board decision. APP ••67-••9. Instead, he asked the COA to find numerous errors in decisions by the superior court. *Id.* To the extent he addressed the school board decision it was with allegations of bias and unfair credibility determinations rather than seeking a *de novo* review. *Id.*

The Mercer Island School District matter arose from a review of an administrative enforcement proceeding conducted

by the Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction ("OSPI"). See Mercer Island S.D., 186 Wn. App. 939, 944, 959, 347 P.3d 924 (2015). OSPI held an administrative hearing regarding Mercer Island School District's alleged improper handling of several incidents of student-on-student racial harassment pursuant to enforcement provisions of the Equal Education Opportunity Law ("EEOL"), RCW 28A.642 et seq. Id. OSPI, via the administrative law judge ("ALJ") designated by OSPI, concluded the Mercer Island School District had displayed deliberate indifference toward racial harassment. Id. The ALJ ordered the Mercer Island School District to provide various training and presentations to reduce harassment, intimidation and bullying, particularly regarding race. Id. at 958-959. The Mercer Island School District appealed to the superior court pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, RCW 34.05 et. seq., arguing the facts did not support the legal conclusions of the ALJ and the superior court agreed. *Id.* at 959. The appellate court reversed the superior court reinstating the original decision of OSPI. *Id.* at 944.

M.G. has provided no credible argument the present decision conflicts with the *Mercer Island S.D.* decision or any other decision of the appellate courts or this Court.

VII. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the R.A.P., relevant case law and statutes to this review of a school board administrative action. There is no constitutional question at issue. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with any appellate court or Supreme Court decision. The appellate court decision is specific to M.G.'s petition and opening brief filed in the appellate court. As such there is no applicable ground for review, M.G.'s petition should be denied.

///

///

///

///

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/15/2024 8:00 AM

I CERTIFY PURSUANT TO RAP 18.17(b) that the foregoing Response to Petition for Review contains <u>2505</u> words.